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 SHIPBUILDING 

  
 On August 30th, 1821, Josiah M. Reeve purchased a 
piece of property along the Alloway Creek from James 
Jessup.  The property, which consisted of a gristmill and a 
saw mill, was located on the edge of the village of 
Thompson’s Bridge, which would later be called Alloway.  
This small land purchase would be the beginnings of one 
of the most significant early industries in Salem County.  
The original intention of Josiah Reeve was simply to 
operate and grow his milling operation.  Grist and saw 
mills are among the most important industries in early 
American life.  The need to grind grains for flour and cut 
lumber are essential to growing agricultural communities 
such as Salem County.  Having these facilities nearby is 
vital for keeping cost down and production high. 
 To that end, Reeve began to improve his property 
almost immediately after purchasing it.  He started in 1822 
by building a canal from the milldam to the site of a new 
gristmill.  In 1824, Reeve saw an opportunity to get into 
the lucrative business of cutting timber for the 
shipbuilding industry in Philadelphia.  The heavy timber 
needed was close at hand, but a greater capacity at the saw 
mill was needed.  In 1825, he doubled his output with a 
new saw mill.              
 For a saw mill, water is power, and greater water flow 
means greater power.  To that end, Josiah and William 
Reeve, who joined the business in 1829, built a new 
milldam about a mile below the first in order to create a 
pond of about 150 acres.  In 1832, a bark mill was added 
to the property, and they began grinding bark for shipment 
to Philadelphia.  This aspect of the business lasted until 
1845, when it was discontinued.  1831 brought the 

addition of another Reeve brother, this time Emmor, the 
youngest.  In 1832, a second double saw mill was added, 
bringing the company to its maximum output.   
 The reason for the success of the Reeve Brothers 
milling operation was the plentiful supply of timber in the 
region at that time.  And it was not just any timber.  
Philadelphia shipbuilders came to appreciate the durability 
of the hard white oak that grew in abundance in our area.  
Hard wood is essential to ship building, and not just for 
the obvious reason of durability.         
 A wooden ship frame is built up from a central spine, 
called the keel that runs the length of the craft.  The keel 
supports a series of roughly horseshoe shaped ribs that 
support the decks and the side planking that creates the 
skin of the vessel.  The ribs of the ship are narrow at the 
bow of the ship, increase to their maximum width at the 
midsection of the ship and narrow again at the stern in 
order to create the most efficient water flow around the 
ship as it moves through the water.  The nature of this 
design means a far greater concentration of wood, and 
thus weight, at the bow and stern of the ship.  Over time,  
              (continued on page 42) 

This informative presentation about the Society’s current exhibit 
(right) was recently presented by our Administrator and 
Curator, Andrew Coldren, to the Genealogical Society of Salem 
County. The ability to see this well-received exhibit will 
continue until January of 2017, at which time it will close.  
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Message From the President and Annual Appeal 

The Quarterly Newsletter is  
published by the                                  

Salem County Historical Society  
Spring, Summer, Fall and Winter. 

 
Mission Statement: The mission of 
the Salem County Historical Society 
is to seek, document, preserve, 
interpret and perpetuate Salem 
County's heritage, and to enhance the 
awareness and appreciation of that 
heritage, through its research, 
collections, functions, exhibits, 
educational programs and 
publications, for the benefit of future 
generations and for the betterment of 
the community. 

 
Research Library &                       

Museum Hours 
Tuesday through Saturday    

Noon - 4PM 
Admission Fee $5.00 

Free for Members 
www.salemcountyhistoricalsociety.com 

 
Address Correspondence to: 

Salem County Historical Society 
83 Market Street 

Salem, New Jersey 08079 
Tel. (856) 935-5004 

 
This publication may include historical 
materials that contain language or 
stereotypes reflecting the culture or 
language of a particular period or 
place.  These items are presented as 
part of the historical record. 

Please Recycle your Newsletter 

In December we traditionally look back over the past twelve months and reflect.  I 
am the same, I have been evaluating this past year (my first year in my second go-
round as your Society President!) and can’t help but feel thankful to all of you 
who support the Society through your time, talents and giving.  You are the heart 
of the Society. 
 
I would also like to say a few words of thanks to our incredible staff.  Andrew 
Coldren and Rich Guido have a unique ability to juggle all of the balls in the air 
(and the Board is always adding another!) to ensure our exhibits, programs and 
offerings are successful.  Each is able to put aside the work of the moment to 
attend to the needs of our visitors and volunteers.  Whether in the Library or 
Museum, Andrew and Rich make sure anyone who comes through our door 
leaves with a greater knowledge of Salem County’s history and a warm feeling 
knowing the visit has been a positive experience.   Thank you both, you are an 
invaluable team. 
 
And it is the time of year when I reach out to you and ask you to contribute to our 
Annual Giving Appeal.  Just take a look at what has been going on at the Salem 
County Historical Society this past year.  Thanks to you and your generous 
support we have been able to: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This year your gift is even more important to us than ever.  We have lost a crucial 
grant traditionally awarded to us by the New Jersey Historical Commission.  
Budget cuts and reconstruction of the NJHC programs have left the Salem County 
Historical Society out in the cold when it comes to financial support.  Our General 
Operating Support grant, over $25,000, has been cut off through no fault of ours. 
We are simply the recipients of ‘the new approach to grant funding’.  And, we are 
determined not to allow this deficit affect our services and programs.  Please help 
us to make up the shortfall in our budget through a generous donation to our 
Annual Giving Appeal. 
 
Let’s continue to ensure that the Salem County Historical Society maintains its 
vital role in our community – in short, to fulfill the mission set out by our 
founders 132 years ago – which would not be possible without the continued 
interest, participation, enthusiasm and support of members and friends like you.  I 
thank you for considering a gift to the Salem County Historical Society as part of 
your year-end charitable giving plan. 
 
With all good wishes to you and your families for a Happy Holiday Season.  Why 
not stop by for a visit! 
 
Barbara Smith Duffy, President 

 Expand our collections storage to our new Annex building.  We 
now have a new home for our collections that ensures the treasures 
the families of Salem County have entrusted to us are cared for in a 
climate controlled, secure environment – when not on display! 

 Build a partnership with a local High School to develop curriculum 
based upon the history of Salem County and its people 

 Renew exhibit rooms throughout the building to feature our toy and 
doll collections (reopening in 2017), open period rooms featuring 
samplers, textiles and furniture and display our unique artwork 
collection throughout the building 

 And we are growing our programs and outreach through 
partnerships with other Societies in and out of the County 

http://www.salemcounty.com/schs
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Calendar of Events  
 Friday, December 2, 2016                                                                                  

Woodstown by Candlelight Tour, Woodstown, NJ                   
6:00 PM - 10:00 PM      

 Saturday, December 3, 2016                                               
The 29th Annual Yuletide Tour, Salem, NJ 1:00PM - 6:00PM        

 Sunday, December 11, 2016                                             
Quarterly Meeting 1:30 PM Friends’ Village in Woodstown, NJ 
Speaker: Nancy Webster, Curator and Historian of the        
Friends’ Historical Association                                                                      
Topic: Quaker Religious Policy during the American Revolution 

 Sunday, March 12, 2016                                                              
Quarterly Meeting 1:30 PM Friends’ Village in Woodstown, NJ                                                                  
Speaker and Topic to be announced. 

 Saturday, April 8,  2017                                                                 
Our new exhibit opening, 12:00 PM                                                        
“Salem County in the First Modern Decade: 1910-1919” 

Membership and Outreach 
One of the highlights of outreach by the Salem County 
Historical Society during these past few months was 
our booth at the Salem County Fair in August, which 
brought information about our society to hundreds of 
people throughout the community. Attendees 
particularly enjoyed our Native American arrowhead 
collection and our "pattern brick" blocks. 
 
We also offered the opportunity to fill out a survey for 
entry into a drawing for a gift basket of historical 
society items. Over 100 surveys were filled out, which 
provided the society with valuable statistics about our 
visitors, our outreach, and our marketing which will 
assist our plans for future programming. The survey 
was also implemented at the annual luncheon, which 
will give us similar feedback from the prospective of a 
population of primarily members. 
 
A few other local events where we promoted SCHS 
include Farm Day at the Pennsville Historical Society 
in June, the Greenwich Artisans Faire in September, 
and a joint genealogy workshop with the Genealogical 
Society of Salem County in September. We look 
forward to continuing to spread the word about the 
wonderful things the Salem County Historical Society 
has to offer! 

Society News 

On October 16th, the Historical Society presented the 13th 

John S. Rock Lecture at historic Mt. Pisgah A.M.E. Church.  

Elena R. Flynn gave an excellent presentation on the rocky 

road to the end of slavery in New Jersey.  Thanks to 

everyone who came out to support this important program. 

The Historical Society Garden Committee has been busy 

cleaning up the flower beds in our courtyard, trimming back 

trees, and generally sprucing up the area.  We are very 

grateful to the volunteers on the committee for their work.   

On October 27th the Education Committee presented for the 

teachers of Salem High School and Middle School a 

program on Salem County in the Revolution.  This was part 

of a professional development program to make the teachers 

more aware of the resources of the Historical Society and 

their use in preparing course curricula.  The Committee will 

present three more such presentations on other subjects in 

the coming months.   

This year’s Walking Ghost Tour of Salem was held on the 

night of October 28th and was once again a great success.  

The proceeds from this evening of eerie stories and Salem 

County history will support the John S. Rock Memorial 

Scholarship.  We would like to extend a very special thank 

you to all the volunteers that make the Tour possible. 

The Museum Committee continues the process of moving 

museum collections which are currently in storage in the 

Grant House complex into our Annex Building. Nearly one 

hundred pieces of furniture and thousands of glass, textile, 

china, and other artifacts have already been moved.  There is 

much more still to be done, and we thank our Museum 

volunteers for all of their effort.  

The Historical Society December Quarterly Meeting will be 

held at the Friends Village in Woodstown on December 11th 

at 1:30PM. The speaker will be author and researcher Nancy 

Webster. She will be speaking on the subject of the 

experience of the Quakers during the American Revolution. 

DECEMBER 

QUARTERLY 

MEETING 

Join us on Sunday, 

December 11, 2016 at 

1:30 PM at the Friends 

Village in Woodstown, 

New Jersey.   Our guest 

speaker will be Nancy 

Webster, Curator of the 

Friends’ Historical Association who will discuss 

Quaker religious policy during the American 

Revolution. 

FIRST WOMEN TO SERVE ON FEDERAL PETIT JURY 

 Mrs. David H. Fogg and Mrs. Charles W. Lounsbury, of Salem, have the 
distinction of being among the first women to serve on a Federal Petit Jury, 
which is now in session in Camden. Raymond E. Walton, of Salem, is also 
on the panel. This is the first time that women have been called. 

     Salem Standard and Jerseyman, Salem, NJ, January 6, 1938 

 Passengers can now leave Salem by the 3:35 P.M. train and arrive at 
Cape Island [Cape May] at 7:05. 

Salem Sunbeam, Salem, NJ, August 1866 
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On Sunday, 

September 18th, 

the Historical 

Society hosted its 

2016 Annual 

Luncheon. This 

event is a 

wonderful 

opportunity to sit 

down with our members and supporters and enjoy an afternoon of 

food and camaraderie. We would like to thank everyone who came 

out and all who supported the event. We would also like to extend a 

special thank you to the Fort Delaware Cornet Band for providing 

the program.  

Congratulations to 

our 2016 Annual 

Luncheon raffle prize 

winner and Society 

member Barbara 

Stratton! Thank you 

again to everyone 

who bought tickets in 

support of the 

Society.  

Robert and Sue Breslin 

Robert and Shirley Brooks 

Louise G. Brown 

Gretchen and Harlan Buzby 

Asa and Ann Cadwallader 

Keith and Shirley Campbell 

John and Emilie Carpenter, Jr. 

Mssrs. Philip Correll and Ronald Magill 

Robert L. Davis 

Barbara Dawson 

Barbara and Brian Duffy 

John J. Elk 

Ruth H. Flemming 

Frank Leonards & Frank, LLC 

William  J. Gallo, Jr. 

Mary D. Hancock 

Curt and Sue Harker 

Joan Hassler 

Kim W. Hitchner 

Joann Humphrey 

Jim and Marcia Kates 

Peggy Kavanaugh 

Gail Malson 

Larry and Jane Maltman 

Sharon McCarson 

Tom Miller 

Ellen Morrissey 

Anna Muhlbaier 

Barbara Nathan 

Mr. and Mrs. Dennis K. O’Hare 

Larry and Joanne Owen 

Janice Patten 

Robert B. Peiffer 

Ted Ridgway 

Mr. and Mrs. Harry Salmon 

B. Schalick 

B. Harold Smick, Jr. 

Walter Stewart 

Armando and Elizabeth Verdecchio 

Michael S. Warner, CPA 

Herbert and Deb Wagner 

Emilie H. Walker 

Elizabeth Yerkes 

 

Thank You To Our 2016 Annual Luncheon Patrons & Donors 

WALKING GHOST TOUR 

RECAP 

 Joanne Koerber Owen, right, 

presented the perfect prelude to 

Salem City’s Walking Ghost Tour 

with a spirited pipe organ concert, 

Tunes from the Crypt, at St. John’s 

Episcopal 

Church in 

Salem, New 

Jersey. She 

performed 

works from 

composers Gigout, Saint-Saens, Horvit and 

Bach.        

 Administrator and Curator, Andrew R. 

Coldren, left, spoke to the tour visitors 

about the skirmish at Quinton’s Bridge in 

the Society’s Keeping Room.  Proceeds 

from the Ghost Tour help to fund the 

Society’s annual      John S. Rock Memorial 

Scholarship at the Salem Community 

College.    

OPPORTUNITY TO PARTICIPATE 
IN A TAX DEDUCTIBLE LOCAL                

PRESERVATION PROJECT  
 

 The Salem County 
Historical Society was 
recently given a one of a 
kind collection of bound 
newspapers that have 
never been microfilmed 
or copied. 
 This exceptional and 
valuable collection 
consists of fourteen 
bound books of the 
Woodstown, New Jersey 
newspaper titled The 
Monitor-Register.  
 The dates of these 
fourteen newspaper 
volumes range between the years 1947 through 1959.  
 The Library Committee is offering the public the 
opportunity to participate in the preservation of this 
invaluable collection of local history.  
 The approximate cost for each book to be microfilmed 
is $300.  
 Each donor, with permission, will be appropriately 
recognized. 

 All contributions may be mailed to:                                  
Salem County Historical Society, Newspaper Project,  

83 Market Street, Salem, NJ 08079. 
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(continued from cover) as a ship sits in water, a substance 
that does not provide a firm foundation for the weight of 
the ship to rest on, the greater weight of the ends of the 
ship, and the greatest buoyancy in the middle, will cause 
the ship to bend.  This is called hogging.   
 Hogging is particularly a problem in merchant sailing 
vessels due to the large empty space in the middle of the 
ship for cargo.  As the hogging increases, the ship loses its 
shape, becoming less efficient in the water, losing speed, 
until it will ultimately become unstable and more likely to 
break in half in a gale.  The harder the wood, such as white 
oak, that is used in the construction of the frame, the 
greater its resistance to hogging over time.  All wooden 
sailing ships are subject to hogging, as wood is too soft a 
substance to fully prevent it, but harder wood means a 
stiffer hull.  A stiffer hull means greater speed, and more 
speed means more money in maritime commerce.   
 In 1832, the Reeve Brothers began to dabble in 
something that would change the family business forever.  
The business obviously had to transport the materials they  
milled to the shipyard in Philadelphia.  Presumably, they 
contracted small transport ships to move goods and 
supplies up and down the Alloway Creek and into the 
Delaware River.  It is not hard to imagine that the brothers 
who needed ships to transport their goods to Philadelphia, 
had the milled shipbuilding timber at hand, and easy 
access to the kinds of men who know a thing or two about 
building ships, would have had the idea to build their own.  
At first this consisted of small sloops, or “wooden 
shallops”, they built for their own use.  But with the 
growing reputation of ships made from the Salem County 
white oaks, orders soon came in from other companies for 
similar ships.   
 In the decade after 1832, the Reeve Brothers shipyard 
began producing more and larger ships for many of the 
diverse aspects of maritime trade.  They built sloops that 
carried on the trade of goods between Salem and 
Philadelphia and Delaware.  They also built canal boats for 
the Schuylkill Navigation Company, which was a series of 
small canals that tied into the Schuylkill River north of 
Philadelphia, that was chartered in 1815.   
 With the advent of steamships in the 1840’s, Reeve 
Brothers began building both side wheel and propeller 
driven steam ships.  Among these was the side wheel 
steamer Osceaola, which plied the cargo routes on the 
Delaware River north of Philadelphia.  Another example 
was the Columbus, a steam ship originally built for the 
United States Mail Steamship Company and operated 
between Philadelphia and Charleston.  However, the gold 
rush created an enormous demand for ships on the 
California to Panama run.  The Columbus was sent west 
and entered the San Francisco to Panama route.  She was 
even used by the United States Navy and armed with 
twelve pound cannons in order to prevent the invasion of 
Mexico by General Walker in 1854.   
 Perhaps the most famous ship built at the Reeve 
Brothers shipyard was the John S. McKim.  The McKim 
was the first propeller driven commercial steamship built 

in the United States.  The McKim was built under the 
direction of Thomas Clyde and John Ericsson.  Clyde 
would go on to found the Clyde Steamship Company, 
which operated out of Philadelphia.  John Ericsson, of 
course, would go down in history as the designer of the 
famous Civil War ironclad U.S.S. Monitor.  The John S. 
McKim was owned jointly by the three Reeve brothers, 
Thomas Clyde, and a J. Z. Peck.  She was put in operation 
in 1844 running cargo and passengers between New York, 
Charleston, and Savannah.  In 1846, the McKim was taken 
over by the U.S. War Department for use transporting 
troops and supplies to Mexico during the Mexican War.  
Among her notable passengers was Colonel Jefferson 
Davis who would later be President of the Confederate 
States of America.  In 1849, she was also sent to 
California to serve on the gold run.  She remained on the 
west coast until she was broken up for scrap in 1858.   
 Now, I know what many of you are thinking.  You are 
thinking, “hey, I’ve seen the Alloway Creek.  How on 
earth could they launch large ships there?”  This is a very 
good question.  It’s the first thing that came to my mind 
when I first read about the Reeve Brothers shipyard.  
Alloway is about ten miles inland from the Delaware 
River and seems to us today to be a lazy, meandering 
creek far too shallow to float large ships down.  The 
McKim was 376 tons.  The Columbus was 460 tons.  The 
first part of the answer to this question is that the ships 
being built at the Reeve Brothers yard were not the large 
oceangoing clipper ships we might imagine.  The Cutty 
Sark, the only surviving clipper ship of the era weighs 963 
tons.  For the most part, the sloops and brigs being built 
there were a half to a third as big as the ships coming 
down the slipways in New York or Philadelphia.  But still, 
they were big enough.  The second answer is in the clever 
use of the milldams on the Reeve property.  When a ship 
was ready for launch, the floodgate was opened, creating a 
flood that would raise the creek by a foot or more.  The 
ship would quickly be launched and pushed down stream 
to deeper water.   
 At its height, the Reeve Brothers shipyard employed 
over one hundred men.  This was far more than the small 
community of Alloway could comfortably house.  A tract 
of land was purchased from a Sarah Lambert, who was the  

The John S. McKim 
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daughter of Benjamin Thompson from whom Alloway 
took its original name, Thompson’s Bridge.  These ten   
acres were broken up into forty-two building lots to create 
housing for the yard workers.  It has been said that when 
the Reeve Brothers retired from the business in 1859, the 
town never recovered from the resulting loss of jobs.  Our 
sources do not indicate why no one carried on the shipyard 
after the Reeve Brothers retired.  But it is very possible 
that the brothers left the business for the same reason that 
the Wistarburgh Glass Work declined.  It is easy to 
imagine that after nearly thirty years of saw milling and 
ship building, the timber resources so vital to this industry 
were too badly depleted to be sustained.   
 In the middle of the 19th century, the nation and our 
region began to enter the machine age.  As we have seen, 
one of these was the steam engine.  The steam engine 
revolutionized the ships being built by the Reeve Brothers  
shipyard, and travel over the high seas.  No longer 
dependent to the wind, ships could travel up and down 
rivers and across ocean on regular schedules and saving 
enormous amounts of time.  The steam engine was also 
harnessed on land in the form of the railroad locomotive.  
Able to achieve speeds far beyond that of a horse, and not 
subject to rain and mud, people could travel to 
Philadelphia and New York, and Trenton in less than a 
day.   
 Machines were being introduced to save time in labor 
as well as in travel.  Horse drawn reapers could harvest 
grain far faster than by hand, and with far less people 
doing it.  There were even machines to wash clothing, 
making a labor that took all day now only take, well…half 
a day.  The advent of the machines would change 
everything everywhere, not just here in Salem County. 
 Being an agricultural community, it makes sense that it 
would be in agriculture and its supporting industries that 
machines would have their first impact.  Time is the 
enemy of all things agricultural.  The first person to get 
their goods to market gets the best prices.  The longer it 
takes to get your goods to a market, the more products you 
lose to spoilage.  The reaper made harvesting faster.  The 
railroad made getting your goods to market faster, in 
addition to increasing the size of the market area you 
could reach.   

 
CANNING 

 
 The story of our last Salem County industry begins 
where all good things do—in France.   
 During the Napoleonic Wars, one of the greatest 
challenges facing the French army as it rampaged through 
Europe was that the further it got from France the more 
food spoiled before it could reach the army in the field.  A 
huge sum of money was offered to find a solution to this 
problem.  A French brewer was the first to notice that 
foods cooked in jars and sealed did not go bad unless the 
seal broke.  No one knew at the time why this was the 
case, because we were still fifty years from the discovery 
of the role of microbes in food spoilage.  Thus, the art of 
canning was born.   

 Before the era of refrigeration, canning was the only 
way to preserve foods for longer periods of time.  The 
problem with canning was that it was slow and labor 
intensive.  If these problems could be overcome, canning 
would be the ideal way to mass market agricultural goods.  
If ever there was a problem just waiting for a machine to 
solve it, this was it.  The first effort at canning on a large 
scale was set up in New York City in 1812.   But it was 
the American Civil War that, for the same reasons as those 
in France fifty years earlier, brought the benefits of canned 
goods to the public’s attention.  With the prominence of 
agriculture in Salem County, it was an ideal place for the 
canneries to be set up.  It wasn’t long before someone saw 
the opportunity to make the machines that made canning 
profitable.   
 Benjamin and Robert Ayars were born in 1808 and 
1810 respectively.  They grew up in the blacksmiths trade 
and eventually, with a Mr. Cole of Harrisonville, set up a 
blacksmith and wheelwright shop in Greenwich in 1837.  
Being the only foundry in this part of the state, their 
business quickly grew into making plows, harrows, corn 
shellers, endless chain tread, horse powers, threshing 
machines, and ten-plate stoves.  In 1873, they moved their 
shop to Salem.  They began making tin cans for the local 
canneries as at the time there were only about eight can 
manufacturers in the country.  They also made steam 
boilers and engines and made and repaired all the 
machinery in the glass factories in town.   
 By the time the Ayars Machine Company incorporated 
in 1893, canning was a huge business in the area.  Ayars 
produced a machine that could mass produce tin cans to 
fill the ever growing need.  The cans were no longer 
soldered, but were put together using lapseams.  It was the 
tin can we still use today, only in aluminum.   
 At the turn of the century, Ayars turned its effort to 
machines that did the cooking and canning as well as the 
cans themselves.  With Heinz canning tomatoes right in 
Salem, and the Campbell’s Soup Company canning soup 
up the river, Ayars was well situated to provide cans and 
canning machines to the largest canners in the country.   
                         (over) 

Workers of the Ayars Machine Shop. Photographer was Leon 
Abbott Schenck (1883-1952).              From the Collection 
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POLE TAVERN CIRCLE 

NOW READY FOR TRAFFIC 

The contractors at work upon the new traffic circle at Pole Tavern 
aided by continuous good weather have completed the new work 
in a very short amount of time. The circle is now in use and wide 
concrete shoulders have been added to the approaches in all 
directions making an additional safety factor. Both the east and 
west approaches at the Cumberland Highway have a paved width 
of 56 feet and the north and south approaches of the Cumberland 
Highway to Bridgeton have 46 feet of paved width. 

Six roads open on the circle and are carefully and properly 
designated as to the places they go to. The entire circle will be well 
marked by flood lights. 

The only moving necessary to be done was that of the Upper 
Pittsgrove town hall which was moved back directly from its old 
position a few feet. Foster and Mickel gasoline dealers on each 
side of the circle have arranged for good concrete approaches to 
their property. It has not been decided yet whether the old Italian 
cannon will be re-mounted in front of the town hall or whether it 
will adorn the center of the new circle. 

The circle fills a well wanted need in the traffic operation of the 
two great highways which here intersect and has been the scene of 
numerous motor accidents in the past. Although small in size, the 
circle is believed to be fully adequate in taking care of the traffic at 
that place. 

     Salem Sunbeam, Salem, NJ, December 2, 1931 

 The Ayars Machine Company would dominate the 
canning business in this region until 1948, when the 
company was sold to the Chisholm Ryder Company in 
Niagara Falls, New York and the Salem plant ceased 
operations on August 20th of that year. 
 If industry can be defined as the processing of raw 
materials into goods in factories and also as hard work, I 
think it is safe to say that the early industries of Salem 
County met both definitions.  We have always been a 
people who desired to make as well as to grow.  The 
impact of these industries was both regional and global.  
The bottles made at the Wistarburgh Glass Works and the 
earthenware made by Diamond Pottery filled a need 
throughout our area.  The ships of the Reeve Brothers 
shipyard carried people and goods up and down our 
hemisphere. The foods packed in Ayars Machine 
Company cans were distributed all over the globe. 
 All of these industries, sadly, are gone.  Increasingly, 
they pass from our memories.  Even now, no trace of the 
Wistarburgh Glass Works, Diamond Pottery, and the 
Reeve Brothers Shipyard remains to physically tell the 
story.  The legacy of each has passed beyond our region, 
but can still be felt in our nation and our world.  But each 
is a remarkable story, and all deserve an honored place in 
our noble history.   
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OLD SLAPE MANSION 
NOW BEING WRECKED 

 
On the Site at Market and Griffith Streets                    

Sun Company Will Erect a 
Modern Service Station 

  

 “Work was started on Friday morning [November 8, 
1935] to raze the dwelling at the corner of Market and 
Griffith streets, to make way for a service station. 
 The property, known as the Slape estate was purchased 
after the death of Miss Sarah Boon by Howard B. Keasbey 
who in turn has leased it, or at least a portion, to the Sun Oil 
Company represented in Salem by Smith Davis. 
 The stately old mansion, with high pillars on the Market 
Street front, will soon be no more, and in its place will be 
erected a modern service station. Benjamin Hyson has the 
contract to wreck the house and when the materials are 
cleared away the grounds will be filled in, leveled and 
graded. Concrete drives will lead from both Market and 
Griffith Streets to the tanks and pits, and the streets 
intersection is to be rounded. 
 Until the new station is erected business will be 
continued by Mr. Davis on the corner of Market and Grant 
streets.” 

 [When the library space at the Society was reconfigured, 
doors, windows and a column from this home were used in 
the reconstruction of the room we use today.] 

Salem Standard and Jerseyman, Salem, New Jersey,         
Thursday, November 14, 1935 

Woodstown—The first lecture of the University Extension 
Courses recently formed under the auspices of the local center, 
will be held in the Opera House Friday evening, Jan. 13th. The 
subject for the course of six lectures is “American History,” the 
lecturer being William H. Mace, Professor of History and 
Political Science in Syracuse University, who comes very 
highly recommended. It has been 23 years since anything of this 
character has been given in this place and now the old custom 
has been revived by the young element of the town. It is to be 
hoped that people will encourage the young people in this 
excellent movement and at the same time avail themselves of 
such a rich treat.                                              
        The Salem Sunbeam, Salem, NJ, January 6, 1899 

Remarkable Electric Light Bulb 
 We were shown a remarkable electric light bulb yesterday that 
was taken from the house of the late R. M. DuBois on East 
Broadway. This bulb, known as the Shelby bamboo carbonize 
filament, was installed by Frank T. Hall when he was with the old 
Salem Electric Company, and has been used continuously ever 
since, a period of at least 25 years. 

Salem Standard & Jerseyman, Salem, NJ, February 11, 1925 
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Volunteers 

Bruce Bendler, Ph.D. 

Beverly Carr Bradway 

Robert A. Brooks, Ph.D. 

J. Harlan Buzby 

Gretchen Buzby 

Michael J. Cooke 

Suzanne Cooke 

Dave Culver 

Peg Danner 

Michael Dixon 

Barbara Smith Duffy 

Brian M. Duffy 

Ellen Durham 

Bonny Beth Elwell 

Dottie Fisher 

William J. Gallo, Jr. 

Wayne Gotwals 

Curt Harker 

Sue Harker  

Charles Harrison 

Charlotte Harrison  

Katherine Heverin 

Eppie Jones 

Peggy Kavanaugh  

Noel Kemm 

Ronald E. Magill 

Armando Martinez 

Craig Maue 

Ellen Morrissey 

Dale Murschell 

Barbara Nathan 

Christie Nelson 

Dennis O’Hare 

Trudy K. O’Hare 

Lawrence B. Owen 

Amanda Pierce 

Donald Pierce 

Suzanne Pierce 

Bill Saunderlin 

Craig Schneeman 

Gay Schneeman                          

Sheldon Strober, Ed.D.  

Walt Valentine 

Maggie Vaughan 

Ruthanne Wright 

Diane Wohlrab   

Ron Wohlrab 

 

Yes, I would like to become a member of the                   

Salem County Historical Society! 
 Name______________________________ New Member  Renewal or  Gift   

Address___________________________________________________________________ 

City, State, Zip__________________________________________________ 

Telephone_______________________  Email ____________________________________ 

Please make checks 

payable to the Salem County Historical Society. The Society now accepts credit 
card payments for 

 new memberships, renewals, and upgrades through our secure website: 
www.salemcountyhistoricalsociety.com  

RETURN TO: SCHS, 83 Market Street, Salem, NJ 08079 

Student     $10 

Individual    $25 

Family/Household  $40 

Partner     $100 

Sustaining    $150 

Contributing   $250 

Lifetime    $500 

Please circle your desired category 

We also have Business & Corporate  
Membership Opportunities! 

     Oak Tree Associate      $100-$249 

     Pedersen Providers      $250-$499 

     Goodwin Providers      $500-$999                                                                              

     Fenwick Benefactors     $1000+ 

For more information on how your business 
can become members of the Society, please 
call 856-935-5004 
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Corporate and Business Members 
“Partnerships with History” 

 

FENWICK BENEFACTORS 
The Denn House at Hancocks Bridge 

GOODWIN PROVIDERS 
Mannington Mills, Inc. 

PEDERSEN PROVIDERS 
Chemours Chambers Works 

Farmers Mutual Fire Insurance Company 
of Salem County 

Frank Leonards & Frank, LLC 
Henry D. Young, Inc. 

Kates Realty, LLC 
OAK TREE ASSOCIATES 

Berkshire Hathaway Home Services 
Bob Brooks Auction Sales 

Mr. and Mrs. James S. Davis 
Mr. Robert L. Davis 
Earle H. Sloan, Inc. 

Harvest Community Bank 
J.F. Elk Painting 

John D. Jordan, Esq. 
Morgan’s Electrical Services 
Oak Tree Chapter-NSDAR 
Warner & Company, CPAs 

Walter Nicholson Century 21 
 

The Society is grateful for the support 
 of our corporate and business members.  

For more information about our 
 “Partnership with History” program 

Call (856) 935-5004 or visit 
www.salemcountyhistoricalsociety.com 

 

Board of Trustees 

Barbara Smith Duffy, President .............................  2018 

Bonny Beth Elwell, Executive Vice President  ....  2018 

David A. Culver, VP Museum ..................................  2016 

Ellen Morrissey, VP Library  ..................................  2017 

Craig Schneeman, VP Buildings & Grounds .........  2017 

Gaynel Schneeman, Treasurer  ................................  2016 

Margaret Danner, Recording Secretary ................ .. 2016 

William J. Gallo, Jr., Trustee  .................................  2017 

Susan Harker, Trustee  .............................................  2018 

Armando Martinez, Trustee  ....................................  2016 

Trudy K. O’Hare, Trustee .........................................  2018 

Sheldon Strober, Ed.D., Trustee ..............................  2017  

Diane Wohlrab, Trustee ...........................................  2016 

Robert A. Brooks, Ph.D., Trustee Emeritus 

Donald L. Pierce, Trustee Emeritus 

Newsletter: Harlan Buzby, Andrew R. Coldren, 

Richard Guido 

Staff 
 

Administrator and Curator: Andrew R. Coldren 

Administrative Librarian: Richard Guido 

Bookkeeper: Wanda Hofbauer 

Groundskeeper: William Jackson 

Membership Report:  

Individual   

Ramona Pontelandolfo, 
Pittsgrove, NJ 

Robert Stanton,                              
Pilesgrove, NJ                 

Family         

Jeffrey Shrenkrantz,                    
Salem, NJ                     

In Memoriam 

David Klinke,                          
Woodstown, NJ                            

Marion Patrick,                               
Woodstown, NJ                     

TO DEDICATE SCHOOL 
Woodstown, Nov. 16—The new school building will be 
dedicated on Friday, December 1st. State Commissioner, 
Calvin N. Kendall is one of the speakers. The Junior 
Mechanics and P. O. S. of A. [Patriotic Order Sons of 
America] will present a flag and Bible to the school. 
 E. W. Humphreys is arranging to have every part of the 
exercise photographed for moving picture films in order to 
preserve the event, the films to be presented to the school 
finally for preservation. 

Salem Sunbeam, Salem, NJ, November 17, 1916 

Big Bottles—Some immense 
bottles were blown at Craven 
Bros’ factory last week for 
the Poland Springs Company 
of Maine. The bottles were 
for exhibition purposes. They 
held five gallons each, and 
each bottle weighed about 
twelve pounds. Lew Gifford 
and Wm. Penton were the 
blowers who made them. 

Salem Sunbeam, Salem, NJ, 
January 26, 1894 



 

 

Salem County Historical Society 

83 Market Street  

Salem, NJ  08079 

Nonprofit 

Organization 

U.S. Postage 

PAID 

Pennsville, NJ 

Permit No. 118 

 

The Salem County Historical Society receives general operating support grants and project grants from the New Jersey Historical Commission, a division of the Department of 

State.  Additional funding has been made possible in part by funds from the New Jersey Historical Commission, a division of the Department of State, through the Salem 

County Board of Chosen Freeholders and the Salem County Cultural and Heritage Commission.   

Photograph Spotlight Response 
From David Hall, Easley, SC 
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 “I believe the picture of the basketball players was a Congoleum team and the 
one behind the basketball was Jack Hall. He also played with the Salem Oaks team 
with Pete Fry and McCloskey. Jack also played baseball with many local teams and 
the Mannington Mills team. (Also with Pete Fry and McCloskey.) Spindler (pitcher) 
had a drop or curve ball that was very hard to hit. Those were carefree days.”  A Z A N   F   L A R D 

V A N   V I A   B O A 

O X   H A R R Y   T R 

W   H A S   E E L   E 

  M E T E   A W A Y   

S E A           S E T 

  W R A P   C E S S   

F   S L Y   L O O   Z 

I T   T R I O S   L A 

J A G   E R G   M E N 

I R O N   E   Q U A Y 

What a great gift idea for family or friends  

with ties to Salem County!  
 

A gift membership to the Salem County Historical Society includes many 

special features available only through the end of the year.   
 
Gift memberships come in a special gift package that can be sent to you, or 

directly to the recipient.   
 
Simply fill in the membership form on the bottom of page 35 and attach a note 

with your contact information and the contact information for the individual or 

family receiving the gift.  

 
For the same cost as the regular memberships, your 

gift membership package will also include:  
 

Charming personalized gift package 

A copy of Place Names of Salem County  

A set of 6 Grant House note cards  

3 postcards of the Salem Oak  

A $5 coupon towards program fees 

 Gift Memberships  


